IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANNIE DANIELS

...CLAIMANT-APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2007-WC-00634

PECO FOODS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC.

EMPLOYER-APPELLEE

FILED

AUG 14 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF CLAIMANT-APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi)

Oral Argument Not Requested

AL CHADICK ATTORNEY AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 1637 KOSCIUSKO, MS 39090 (662) 289-2242

ATTORNEY FOR CLAIMANT-APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANNIE DANIELS

CLAIMANT-APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NO. 2007-WC-00634

PECO FOODS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC.

EMPLOYER-APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issue is presented for review:

Whether the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Full Commission's findings were against the substantial evidence and law finding that the claimant failed to meet her burden of proving a causal connection between the mental injury she suffered and the physical injuries she suffered while on the job at Peco Foods of Mississippi, Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Background any makes in presentable in a secondary

The claimant has alleged that she sustained two separate physical injuries during the course and scope of her employment at Peco Foods of Canton, Mississippi. The resulting physical injuries have caused or aggravated a psychological or mental injury for which she has been treated. Ms. Daniels received physical injuries on the 5th or 6th of June, 2001, when she was struck in the head by a plastic bag containing frozen chicken. Her second injury occurred on December 12, 2001, when she slipped and fell at work causing an injury to her right upper extremity. Ms. Daniels has alleged that as a result of both of these physical injuries, she is now suffering from a psychological condition or mental injury which is disabling and causing her to receive mental treatment at this time. The first hearing was held on the 2nd of May, 2005, in front of Judge Tammy Harthcock of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. The administrative judge at that time determined that the claimant had indeed suffered two (2) separate physical injuries as described above and that the claimant's psychological overlay was indeed related to her work and these injuries.

The employer and carrier, feeling aggrieved, appealed that decision and a hearing was held on the 19th of December, 2005, after which the Full Commission entered an order dated 15 June, 2006, finding that the claimant had suffered compensable injuries to her scalp on or about the 5th or 6th of June, 2001, and a compensable injury to her right upper extremity in December of 2001. However, the Full Commission did reverse the decision of the administrative judge and found that the claimant was not suffering from a

work-related psychological or psychiatric overlay. It is from this last part of the decision that the claimant appealed this decision to the Circuit Court of Madison County.

Briefs were filed by both parties to the Honorable William E. Chapman, III, who rendered an Opinion and Order dated the 16th of March, 2007, affirming the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Full Commission in its entirety.

Feeling aggrieved of this latest decision, the claimant has once again perfected her appeal to this Honorable Court.

B. Summary of the Facts

The following is a brief summary of the factual testimony presented to the administrative judge and considered by the Full Commission.

The claimant, Annie C. Daniels, at the time of the hearing, was a 43 year old female, currently a 46 year old female, with a 10th grade education and a certificate as a certified nurses aide. (R. at 6 & 7). The claimant never has practiced as a CNA but has performed manual labor her entire life. She first started working in a cotton gin as well as other small parts assembly jobs. She eventually began work at Peco Foods and worked there for an extended period of time, working her way up from custodian to a lead person on one of the production lines. It was in her capacity as a lead person that she suffered her first injury.

The first injury occurred in June of 2001. The claimant testified that while she was working on the line, she was bent over a barrel pulling out bags of chicken and cutting them open to be placed back on the line. (R. at 17). While bending over the barrel, the conveyer line kicked a bag of frozen chicken parts over onto the claimant's head, striking her on the top of her scalp. (R. at 18). Claimant sought treatment from

Canton Family Medical Clinic originally and subsequently from a dermatologist in Jackson by the name of Dr. Robinson.: (R::at:19). Subsequently the claimant was seen by Dr. Bo Burrow of Jackson, Mississippi. Dr. Burrow is a Board Certified Dermatologist. (Burrow at 5). Dr. Burrow testified he first saw the claimant in June of 2003 upon referral from Dr. Truly who was the claimant's local family physician. (Burrow at 5). Burrow testified that upon his first examination, the claimant had a loss of hair on top of her head that he believed to be discoid lupus erythematosus. (Burrow at 5). The claimant gave Dr. Burrow a history of having a burn at work from where a bag with chicken and dry ice and some other chemicals had hit her on top of the head, physically burning her and causing her hair to begin falling out. (Burrow at 6). His physical exam revealed that the claimant had hypo pigmentation scarring and redness as well as darker discoloration at the edges of the top of her scalp. She also did not have any history of a systemic problem which would have been causing this scalp condition. (Burrow at 6). Dr. Burrow ultimately opined that the claimant's condition was aggravated by the injury on the job where she was struck in the top of the head by the frozen chicken with the dry ice. Furthermore, it was his opinion that the claimant's loss of hair and scarring would not resolve or improve and was a permanent condition. (Burrow at 10). Dr. Mark Webb, a Board Certified Psychiatrist, attempted to testify that he did not feel as if the claimant's lupus was a work-related condition. He opined "the theory of the ice or frozen chicken falling on her head as the cause is not plausible, I feel. Her hair loss is not injury or work-related." (Webb at 23). However, upon cross-examination, Dr. Webb did defer to Dr. Burrow concerning the causal relationship between Ms. Daniels' lupus and the injury on the job. The administrative judge, the Full Commission, and Circuit Court have all

ruled that the medical condition which the claimant is suffering from that has caused her
to have scarring and loss of hair to her scalp are related to her injury on the job.

The claimant's second injury occurred on the 12th of December, 2001. The claimant fell on the job and injured her right arm. (R. at 19). Claimant was immediately transferred to the University Hospital where she was initially seen and treated by Dr Alan Freeland. (R. at 19). In April of 2002, the claimant underwent surgery on her right arm and currently has weakness in her right arm which is her dominant arm. (R. at 21). The claimant was assigned a 15% industrial loss of use to the right upper extremity by the administrative judge for her injuries on the job. The other medical evidence submitted in this matter was medical reports from the University of Mississippi Medical Center concerning a hospitalization which Ms. Daniels underwent in April of 2003. (General exhibit 12). The chief complaint was "41 year old female who presents with depression and suicidal ideation." The additional history is, "Pt had a chemical accident last year which scarred her head and she lost her hair, apparently has been depressed since that time. Has an imaginary friend named Susie who is telling her to kill herself." The original assessment was suicidal ideation and depression. She remained hospitalized until she was discharged on the 23rd of April, 2003. Upon her discharge, the physician listed under history of present illness, "approximately a year ago, Ms. Daniels was working at the chicken plant and was involved in an accident where her head was exposed to 'dry ice'. Following this, she lost her hair and her scalp was disfigured. Since that time, she has covered her head with wraps and wigs and she has become quite depressed. Shortly after the accident, she began hearing the voice of Susie, someone who claims to be her friend. Susie also tells her that she is ugly and not her true self and that

if she used this knife to cut her own head off, she would give her a head that looked like her old one." Upon her release, the claimant was not suffering from anymore suicidal or homicidal ideation. She was discharged to follow up with Region VIII Mental Health Center in Canton.

It was at Region VIII Mental Health Center that she began treatment with Dr. James Brister, Board Certified Psychiatrist since 1994. (Exhibit 2 at p. 3). Dr. Brister began his treatment on the 19th of May, 2003, and continued through the date of his deposition which was the 11th of April, 2005. (Exhibit 2 at 5). Dr. Brister mentioned that the thing that was most traumatic in his treatment of Ms. Daniels was the disfigurement to her scalp and loss of hair. (Exhibit 2 at 11). Upon questioning as to the condition which brought Ms. Daniels in to see him, Dr. Brister answered, "...the first visit was so dramatic. I mean, she wasn't dramatic, but her story was quietly told and impressive and that when she lost her hair, she felt like the entire picture of herself as a woman was lost. She said she couldn't go to the beauty shop with her friends anymore, couldn't go in public. Everyday when she got up and looked in the mirror, there was this bald person in front of her that used to have hair." (Exhibit 2 at 11). When asked what his final diagnosis was, Dr. Brister stated that she was suffering from depression and posttraumatic stress disorder from the loss of her hair. (Exhibit 2 at 12). When asked as to his opinion based on a reasonable degree of psychiatric probability in assuming the two histories of injuries of June of 2001 and December of 2001 to be correct, and did he have an opinion as to whether or not they were significant factors in bringing about her depression, Dr. Brister answered yes. (Exhibit 2 at 14). Dr. Brister furthermore opined that the injuries where a significant factor in bringing about her psychiatric condition for

which he was treating her. (General exhibit 2 at 14). Furthermore, based upon the psychiatric conditions, Dr. Brister did not feel as if the claimant could return to work at this time. (Exhibit 2 at 15).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

It is well established that the Supreme Court will only reverse the Commission's rulings where findings of fact are unsupported by substantial evidence, matters of law are clearly erroneous, or the decision was arbitrary and capricious. Westmoreland v. Landmark Furniture, Inc., 752 So.2d 444 at 448; Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Center, 687 So.2d 1221, 1225 (Miss. 1997). Also, it has been well established that in doubtful cases, such doubt should be resolved in favor of a finding of compensability to the end so that the beneficent purposes of the Workers' Compensation Act may be carried out. Barnham v. Klumb Forest Products Center, Inc., 453 So.2d 1300, 1303-04 (Miss, 1984).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The claimant's first contention regarding the issue is that the Full Commission did not apply the proper standard when resolving issues involving a claimant's physical injury with a mental or psychological overlay. The Commission stated in its order overruling the administrative judge that, "it is well established that the connection between employment and alleged disabling condition must be proved by <u>clear and convincing evidence</u>, emphasis added. <u>Sibley v. Unifirst Bank for Savings</u>, 699 So.2d 1214, 1218 (Miss. 1997). (R. at 54). The Commission has clearly applied the wrong standard of proof for this type of injury. In Mississippi, when a worker alleges a mental injury following a job-related physical injury, the mental injury "must be established by evidence bringing it within the realm of probability, and the causal connection with the

accident must be proved by clear evidence." International Paper Company v. Wilson,
139 So.2d 644, 651 (Miss. 1962). It should be noted that obviously the court was
concerned with the risk involved in the cause of mental injury, however, the court DID
NOT, emphasis added, interject a heightened standard of proof but indicated that the
medical evidence in particular must be clear in support of the work-connectedness of a
mental injury. Bradley, John R. and Thompson, Linda A., Mississippi Workers'
Compensation, Section 4-18 (2007). The standard of proof relied upon by the Full
Commission is only applicable in workers' compensation claims where the injuries did
not have a physical component leading to a mental injury. A "clear and convincing
evidence of causal connection between the employment and the mental injury is an
announced standard instead of preponderance of evidence stemming in mental-mental
situations." Bates v. Country Brook Living Center, 609 So.2d 1247 (Miss. 1992).

The case before this Honorable Court clearly relies upon the well established principle that the claimant only need show that there is a causal connection between the claimant's physical injury and the subsequent mental injury she suffers from as a result of the physical injury. The claimant has shown that through the testimony of Dr. Burrow, which was accepted and ordered by the Administrative Judge, Full Commission and Circuit Court Judge, that the claimant has suffered from a work connected injury to her scalp. As a result of this injury and disease, the claimant is suffering from disfigurement and total loss of hair to the scalp. As a result of this disfigurement, Dr. Brister, the claimant's treating physician, has opined that the claimant is suffering from depression and post-traumatic stress disorder from the loss of her hair. (General exhibit 2 at 12). The standard is clear that a regular treating physician carries greater weight than does

other physicians when resolving conflicts of opinion. The Mississippi Workers'

Compensation Commission is entitled to favor the testimony of a treating physician over

a physician who had seen the claimant only once. South Central Bell Telephone

Company v. Aden, 474 So.2d 584, 593 (Miss. 1985), Mueller Copper Tube Co., Inc.

and The Travelers Insurance Company v. Stanley W. Upton, 937 So.2d 428 (Miss. 2005).

CONCLUSION

It is the claimant's position that through the credible and reliable evidence which has been presented in this cause, the decision of the administrative judge finding the claimant's psychological or mental injury compensable was the right and appropriate decision. When the medical evidence is considered in total, it is clear that the claimant was a functioning, employed and productive individual until she suffered these two physical workers' compensation injuries. That as a result of these physical injuries, the claimant did indeed suffer an emotional breakdown requiring hospitalization in April of 2003 and subsequently has had to receive constant treatment from a Board Certified Psychiatrist. The only evidence to the contrary has been that proposed by the employer and carrier from an EME physician who evaluated this claimant on a single occasion. Furthermore, the basis of his opinions are undocumented and unreliable. The claimant suffered from no pre-existing mental condition and there has been absolutely no proof that any stresses of her prior life caused the mental condition that she currently suffers from.

The claimant therefore requests that this Court reverse and render by reinstating the Order of Administrative Judge which was previously entered in this cause and that it was the true and correct decision.