IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-WC-00634	

ANNIE C. DANIELS

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VS.

PECO FOODS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC., A SELF-INSURED

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT PECO FOODS OF MISSISSIPPI, INC.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

Stephen J. Carmody, Esq., MSB No.
Christopher R. Fontan, Esq., MSB No.
BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC
248 East Capitol Street, Suite 1400 (39201)
P.O. Drawer 119
Jackson, Mississippi 39205

Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone: (601) 948-3101

Facsimile: (601) 960-6902

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission did not err in limiting Daniels' recovery for the arm injury to the value of a 15% impairment rating to an upper extremity, as assessed by her treating physician. The Full Commission Order should be affirmed.

The Commission was also correct in finding no compensable mental injury attributable to Daniels' employment with Peco. In assessing the alleged mental injury, the Commission applied the correct legal standard. Furthermore, it was proper for the Commission to accept the opinions of Dr. Webb, and in turn to reject the opinions of Dr. Brister. The Commission is the ultimate finder of fact and therefore was correct in denying compensability for the alleged mental injury. To the extent it denied compensation for the alleged mental injury, the Full Commission Order should be affirmed.

The Commission however erred in declaring the alleged scalp injury to be work-related. Daniels failed to meet the burden of proof necessary to establish compensability for the alleged scalp injury. The medical evidence presented by Daniels regarding the alleged scalp injury was questionable and inconclusive. In fact, the medical evidence in the record supports Peco's position that Daniels' injuries are not the result of the alleged events at Peco's Canton facility on or about June 5 or 6, 2001. Daniels' failure to notify Peco of the need for further medical treatment regarding injury to her head or scalp, combined with her failure to seek any treatment at all for nearly two years, supports a ruling that the alleged scalp injury was not work-related. Based on this evidence, the Full Commission Order regarding compensability for the alleged scalp injury should be reversed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The Commission is the ultimate trier of fact, notwithstanding any contrary finding by the Administrative Law Judge. Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co., 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988). As such, appellate courts are charged with reviewing all questions of law and fact, and "[i]f the Commission's findings of fact and order are supported by substantial evidence, all appellate courts are bound thereby." Id. (emphasis added). Substantial evidence has been defined as "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion" and affords a "substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred." Central Electric Power Association v. Hicks, 110 So. 2d 351, 357 (Miss. 1959). Based on this highly deferential standard, an appellate court should reverse the Full Commission Order only if it finds the Order to be clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Fought, 523 So. 2d at 317. The highly deferential standard applies even if the record evidence would convince this Court to rule otherwise, if it were it the ultimate finder of fact. Id.

B. The Commission Did Not Err in Limiting Compensation for Daniels' Alleged Arm Injury to the Value of the Physician-Assessed Impairment Rating.

The Commission did not commit an error in limiting Daniels' recovery for the arm injury to the value of the 15% medical impairment rating assessed by Dr. Freeland on April 18, 2002. Peco paid Daniels for the value of the medical impairment rating before the initial hearing on the merits. The Full Commission order should be affirmed.

In her Brief, Daniels requests that this Court reinstate the A.J. Order. However, once a matter is appealed from the Administrative Judge, the Commission becomes the original finder of fact. See Day-Brite Lighting Div., Emerson Elec. Co. v. Cummings, 419 So. 2d 211 (Miss. 1982). Even if this Court determines that the Commission applied an erroneous legal standard in a matter, the appropriate remedy is to, at the most, remand the matter back to the Commission—as the original finder of fact—for a determination in accordance with the correct legal standard. See Smith v. Container General Corp., 559 So. 2d 1019, 1023 (Miss. 1990).

C. The Commission Did Not Err in Ruling that Daniels Did Not Sustain a Work-Related Mental Injury.

The Commission did not commit an error by denying Daniels' request for compensation for her alleged mental injury. The Commission held that Daniels failed to establish a compensable mental and/or psychological injury. (C.P.II. at 190). The Full Commission Order should survive appellate scrutiny.

The Supreme Court has warned against "indiscriminate compensation" for mental injuries, because such mental problems might "arise from a number of causes." See Bates v. Merchants Co., 161 So. 2d 652 (Miss. 1964). In Mississippi, when a worker alleges a mental injury following a job-related physical injury, the worker bears the burden of establishing the causal connection between the alleged mental injury and his or her job-related physical injury, and "the causal connection with the accident must be proved by clear evidence." International Paper Co. v. Wilson, 139 So. 2d 644, 651 (Miss. 1962) (emphasis added); see also Miller Transporters, LTD v. Reeves, 195 So. 2d 95, 100 (Miss. 1967 ("The emotional upset [following a physical industrial accident] is compensable only if there is a clear causal connection between it and the physical injury."). The Commission determines the existence of this clear causal connection based on "the evidence adduced in the cause." Miller Transporters, 195 So. 2d at 100.

At the hearing, the parties presented substantial evidence supporting the Commission's decision to deny compensability for the alleged mental injury. In its Order, the Commission accepted the testimony of Peco's medical expert, Dr. Webb, over Daniels' medical expert, Dr. Brister. Additionally, the Commission focused on the events surrounding Daniels' allegations.

1) The Commission has authority to rely on the testimony provided by Dr. Webb and to reject Dr. Brister's opinions.

The Commission favored the testimony of Dr. Webb over the testimony of Dr. Brister regarding the alleged mental injury. Daniels argues that the Commission impermissibly favored the testimony of Dr. Webb over that of Dr. Brister. However, the Commission is only entitled to favor the testimony of a treating physician over the testimony of a physician who treated a claimant only once. Moreover, the Commission is not prohibited from favoring the testimony of one physician over another, especially when both did not regularly treat the patient. When deciding if a workers' compensation claimant has met its required burden of proof, "[t]he probative value of medical testimony is for the fact-finding tribunal to decide." Miller Transporters, 195 So. 2d at 100 (citing 100 C.J.S. Workmen's' Compensation §555(5)(c)). The Supreme Court has held that, where conflicting medical opinions are admitted in a workers' compensation proceeding, "[t]he Commission is charged with the responsibility under our law for weighing and evaluating this testimony and all other testimony before it and making a finding." South Central Bell Telephone Co. v. Aden, 474 So. 2d 584, 593 (Miss. 1985).

As such, the Commission—as the ultimate trier of fact—was correct in considering the testimony of both Dr. Brister and Dr. Webb, and then concluding which opinion it felt carried more weight. The Commission found Dr. Webb's testimony to be more persuasive. (C.P.II at 188-190). The Commission reached this decision because Dr. Brister never obtained or reviewed any of Daniels' medical records or history, and chose not to delve into her past experiences. (C.P.II at 188). Dr. Brister's testimony was inadequate, incomplete and did not provide a thorough examination of Daniels' medical history. See Sibley v. Unifirst Bank, 699 So. 2d 1214 (Miss. 1997). In fact, the Commission described Dr. Brister's testimony as "suspect." (C.P.II at 190).

In stark contrast, the Commission accepted the testimony of Dr. Webb, who arrived at his opinions after carefully reviewing the Daniels' prior records and medical history, and after an indepth discussion with the Daniels about her own personal history. Daniels argues that Dr. Webb only evaluated her on a "single" occasion. (Brief of Claimant-Appellant at 8). However, the Mississippi appellate courts have consistently held that the opinion of an EME physician based on a claimant's personal history, even if only supported by a single examination, is "clearly substantial evidence on which the Commission could base a decision." DiGrazia v. Park Place Entertainment, 914 So. 2d 1232, 1237 (Miss. App. Ct. 2005). The Commission further accepted Dr. Webb's opinion that the alleged arm injury in December 2001—at the most—"exacerbated her pre-existing mental illness," which was "temporary at most, and was neither disabling nor permanent." (C.P.II at 190).

To prevail on a mental injury claim, Daniels must establish the work-relatedness of the alleged mental injury by clear evidence. Miller Transporters, 195 So. 2d at 100 (emphasis added). Here, the Commission disregarded Daniels' proffered medical testimony regarding the alleged connection of her mental problems with her employment at Peco. (C.P.II at 189-190). As the trier of fact in this case, the Commission's decision to disregard Dr. Brister's testimony is binding on this Court. Fought, 523 So. 2d at 317

2) The Commission ruled that the timing of events did not support a ruling of work-relatedness.

The Commission also found the timing of events further evidenced the lack of a clear connection between Daniels' employment at Peco and her alleged mental injury. The Commission noted that Daniels' employment terminated in December 2001. However, she did not seek treatment for the alleged mental injury until April 2003—some sixteen (16) months after leaving Peco, and a full year after reaching maximum medical improvement from the alleged arm injury. During this time, Daniels also worked for a different employer. According

to Dr. Webb, at the most, the alleged arm injury temporarily exacerbated Daniels' pre-existing mental illness. The Commission found this exacerbation was neither disabling nor permanent, and was not related to her work at Peco. The Commission held that the causal connection between Daniels' work and alleged mental injury was "tenuous, at best." (C.P.II at 190).

The Commission relied on a combination of medical expert testimony and facts in determining there was no clear causal connection between Daniels' employment at Peco and her alleged mental injury. These findings were supported by substantial evidence. As such, the Commission's decision denying compensability for the alleged mental injury should be affirmed.

D. The Commission Erred in Ruling that Daniels Proved a Compensable Work-Related Injury to Her Scalp.

The Commission erred in awarding Daniels compensation for the alleged scalp injury. In establishing a claim for a compensable injury, a claimant bears the burden of establishing that his or her injury both arose from and in the course of his or her employment, including a causal connection of injury to the claimed disability. Narkeeta, Inc. v. McCoy, 153 So. 2d 798 (Miss. 1963). Based on the evidence presented at the Hearing, Daniels failed to meet this burden in establishing her claim for compensation for the alleged scalp injury. While decisions of the Commission are granted deference, appellate courts can overrule the findings of the Commission if the findings are contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Fought, 523 So. 2d at 317.

At the Hearing, Daniels proffered medical expert testimony that established only the **possibility** of a connection between her scalp condition and the alleged scalp injury. Daniels' medical expert, Dr. Burrow, attempted to connect Daniels' scalp condition to the alleged scalp injury by diagnosing Daniels with discoid lupus, and attributing this diagnosis to the alleged scalp injury. (Ex. 1 at 16). However, Dr. Burrow conceded that the exact cause of this condition is unknown, but is most likely an inherited condition triggered by to exposure to the sun. (Ex. 1

at 16). While Dr. Burrow opined that discoid lupus could possibly stem from sufficient exposure to dry ice, he couched his opinion in terms of exposure either directly to skin or directly to skin and hair. (Ex. 1 at 15). Furthermore, Dr. Burrow did not address the amount of exposure needed or likelihood of such a burn or injury resulting from contact with skin, hair, and three layers of protective gear, such as Daniels was admittedly wearing on the date of the alleged injury. (Tr. at 32-33). The Commission even admitted that Dr. Burrow's opinion was "belated," due to the two year gap between the occurrence of the alleged scalp injury and Dr. Burrow's examination. ⁹ (C.P.II at 184).

In rebuttal, Peco offered credible medical expert testimony directly refuting a causal connection between Daniels' scalp condition and the alleged scalp injury. Peco's medical expert, Dr. Webb, directly contradicted Dr. Burrow's findings and rejected a causal connection between the alleged scalp injury and Daniels' diagnosed discoid lupus. (Ex. 4 at 23). While he agreed the most likely cause of Daniels' hair loss and scarring was lupus, Dr. Webb expressly stated that discoid lupus is a rheumatologic illness, and is not injury or stress related. (Ex. 4 at 23). Dr. Webb declared that "[t]he theory of the ice or frozen chicken falling on her head as the cause [of the alleged scalp injury] is not plausible." (Ex. 4 at 23). Thus, even though it did not bear the burden of proof on this issue, Peco offered overwhelming medical evidence refuting the possibility of a connection between Daniels' condition and the alleged scalp injury, as was theorized by Daniels' medical expert.

⁹ This examination also occurred approximately sixteen months after Daniels stopped working for Peco.

Based on the overwhelming weight of the evidence in the case, Daniels failed to establish the work-relatedness of her alleged scalp injury. 10 Accordingly, the Full Commission Order awarding compensation for the alleged scalp injury should be reversed.

V. CONCLUSION

The Commission did not err in awarding Daniels benefits for the value of the physician assessed impairment rating for her arm injury. Likewise, the Commission did not err in denying compensability for Daniels' alleged mental injury stemming from the arm injury and alleged scalp injury in this case. Both of these affirmations are legally sound and supported by substantial evidence. Accordingly, they should be affirmed by this Court.

The Commission however did err in awarding Daniels compensation for the alleged scalp injury. Daniels failed to present sufficient evidence establishing a causal connection between her scalp condition and the alleged work-related injury. Therefore, Peco asks this Court to reverse the Full Commission Order as it relates to the alleged scalp injury.